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Praise for The Power and the Money


“The Power and the Money invites readers to ‘follow the money’ on a fascinating journey through a century and a half of American history. Filled with larger-than-life personalities, startling vignettes, and brilliant insights, Tevi Troy’s tour de force demonstrates that politics and business can make not only strange bed-fellows and marriages of convenience but also, occasionally, relationships built on mutual respect.”


—Christopher Cox, former SEC Chair and author of Woodrow Wilson: The Light Withdrawn


“For 150 years, ever since the United States became an industrial power, its elected presidents have alternately battled or begged assistance of moguls and entrepreneurs who have become unofficial collaborators in managing the economy. From Rockefeller and Morgan to Zuckerberg and Musk, Tevi Troy introduces a Hollywood-worthy cast of power players, all part of a historical rethink as ambitious as it is original.”


—Richard Norton Smith, presidential historian and author of many books, including An Ordinary Man: The Surprising Life and Historic Presidency of Gerald R. Ford


“I had the pleasure of working with Tevi Troy and have seen firsthand his deep knowledge of the inner workings of government. In The Power and the Money, Tevi combines his expertise in government with his training as a historian—from the University of Texas, of course—to provide readers with a terrific glimpse into our nation’s success. He shows how the relationship between presidents and CEOs has shaped and continues to shape our nation even today. Tevi does this all with fascinating stories and great insights. The Power and the Money is an impressive achievement, and a must read.”


—Margaret Spellings, former Secretary of Education and President, Bipartisan Policy Center




“Government. Business. Two independent entities? In his insightful book, Dr. Tevi Troy compellingly argues that these two spheres are not only interconnected but have also profoundly shaped the United States together. Those connections have steadily strengthened while also becoming increasingly intricate. If you seek to grasp the nuances of those dynamics and the pivotal figures who have molded them, The Power and the Money is an indispensable primer.”


—Dr. Noam Wasserman, Dean, Yeshiva University’s Sy Syms School of Business and bestselling author of The Founder’s Dilemmas and Life Is a Startup
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“[T]he chief business of the American people is business.”


—Calvin Coolidge


“No business which depends for existence on paying less than living wages to its workers has any right to continue in this country.”


—Franklin D. Roosevelt


“My father always told me that all businessmen were sons of bitches, but I never believed it until now.”


—John F. Kennedy


“Government’s view of the economy could be summed up in a few short phrases: If it moves, tax it. If it keeps moving, regulate it. And if it stops moving, subsidize it.”


—Ronald Reagan
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Presidents come and go. They serve four years, sometimes eight. But CEOs—Chief Executive Officers of large corporations—in contrast, can potentially reign for decades. Given their long tenures, they can interact with multiple presidents, necessitating models of engagement for coping with the most powerful person in the land. Those models have become increasingly important over the past century as America has shifted from a mostly laissez-faire free market economy to one in which government is increasingly enmeshed in corporate behavior and decisions. Today, government rules oversee what businesses they acquire; whom they can hire; how they run their workplace; how much they pay in taxes; what environmental regulations apply to them; what kind of subsidies they (or their rivals) get; and whether they can sell their products abroad—or at all. This list only scratches the surface. If a large company wants to survive and thrive, it must have a strategy for dealing with an increasingly powerful and interventionist federal government.


All these rules do not mean that corporations are hurting. Far from it. The 2022 aggregate sales for the Fortune 500 were $41 trillion, more than a third of the world’s total GDP. In addition, the whole tangle of rules and regulations can benefit corporations, which can afford to pay for compliance costs for rules, that flummox small and upcoming businesses. The current regulatory regime means that corporations can make large profits while government gets to direct their behavior. For the rest of us, this partnership costs us money in the form of higher prices, and restricts our freedom of choice, in the form of limitations on behavior and a limited ability to form or patronize new and competing entities.




While the government entanglement with big business is profitable for corporations, it also brings challenges that carry definite risks. Increasing federal requirements mean that CEOs face a concomitant increase in the need to engage with Washington’s cultural, financial, and political realities. A CEO or a corporation that alienates the Washington establishment can be subjected to a painful variety of regulatory impositions that can potentially pose existential threats to companies in the form of banned products or outlawed business practices.


CEOs need to make sure this does not happen to them or their shareholders. Given their dependence on, and vulnerability to Washington, CEOs have their corporations spend an estimated $3 billion annually lobbying Washington to shape regulations and legislation in ways that are more favorable to them.1


These lobbying efforts are necessary, but not necessarily determinative. An analysis by the consulting firm Baron Public Affairs found that companies with competing interests usually fight one another to a draw in terms of lobbying resources thrown at a particular problem. In this environment, the engagement of the CEO can be a tiebreaker. A CEO who has a good relationship with the president and political establishment can get the company a hearing that it might not get in other ways. A celebrity CEO can also get messages out via the media in ways that a more diffident CEO is unable or unwilling to do, as a message coming from a CEO will usually get more traction than standard communiques from corporate press shops.2


These messages can shape the political environment in which policymakers operate. Politicians, especially presidents, are subject to the whims of the voters. As a result, Democrats and Republicans come and go as dictated by a political calendar and shifting ideological winds. Corporations have longer time horizons, so they try benefiting from the party in power, yet work with the other side of the aisle for when the political pendulum swings back. This can be tricky. As Paul Weaver notes in The Suicidal Corporation, “Companies and trade associations never know who their allies and enemies will be in the future. That is why business likes to go along with those in power and hates to oppose them.”3


Another important dynamic is that not all CEOs are equal. They have different skills, interests, and weaknesses. Richard Pepler at HBO is a believer in the “permanent campaign,” seeking out every opportunity to shape the public dialogue in ways that are helpful to his company, and to make sure the company is well positioned with policymakers in the event of a crisis. Other CEOs, whose names most of us will never know, prefer to focus on business operations and profit and loss—making sure that the nuts and bolts of internal systems work and that the company gets its product out in an efficient and timely way. Some CEOs, like Apple’s Tim Cook, get their start as operational managers but then realize the necessity of engaging with Washington and, in Cook’s case, realize that they are quite good at it.4


Sometimes the gravity of the business or political challenges demand that CEOs must go straight to the top in their lobbying efforts. That means, of course, the president of the United States. In this, they bring with them some important advantages. Unlike presidents, CEOs are not term limited, and a long-serving CEO can therefore have relationships with many presidents. Lee Iacocca, for example, knew ten different presidents in his career as a leader at two auto companies and in his retirement role of all-around post-CEO celebrity. Looking at his relationships with multiple presidents can help guide today’s leaders on which strategies might work for engaging Washington.


At the same time, a look at the history of CEO-presidential engagement can shed light on the seeming hostility between elected officials and corporations. This examination can help put the current period of bipartisan hostility towards corporations in context and judge whether we are living through an anomalous period or a challenging reality that will continue into the future.


While it is impossible to answer questions about the future in a definitive way, this examination of the past can help us learn where the current debates are coming from, and give us a sense of where things are likely to go. To do this, this book examines the relationships between 18 CEOs and the presidents that each of them interacted with. In doing so, it looks at friendships and enmities, successes and failures, and how they originated and evolved. Although the universe of CEOs who deal with presidents is enormous, the number of CEOs with consequential interactions with more than one president is more finite. As such, this volume looks at CEOs from industry-leading corporations who came to know multiple presidents over their tenures. These 18 CEOs navigated their relationships during ten key periods in American political life. Across this century-and-a-half period, two things happened: the US economy expanded and advanced, from the industrial stocks that dominated the Dow Jones when it was first created, to the high-tech FAANG stocks that move much of the S&P 500 today. Along this march of progress, we saw the emergence of car manufacturing, news media, Hollywood, large banks, and the initial wave of tech companies that launched in the 1970s and 1980s. At the same time, the federal government grew, from a largely laissez-faire entity to the current behemoth that directs corporate behavior in a multitude of ways. Each industry, and each political period, contributed to the different strategies that CEOs deployed to work with presidents to the potential benefit of their companies.5


In this period, CEOs had to carefully forge relationships with presidents and key White House aides in order to protect and to promote their companies. John D. Rockefeller and Henry Ford brought economy and society-transforming products to the world. In the process, they built powerful empires, but also found themselves targeted by presidents who saw political opportunity in the CEOs’ unpopularity. Henry Luce and Katharine Graham ran powerful media platforms, but they also saw that what they published could anger the presidents they covered. The Warner Brothers and Rupert Murdoch used their power to bolster presidents they liked, although, in Murdoch’s case, he also went after presidents he did not like, and the presidents he targeted reciprocated in kind. Lee Iacocca and Lew Wasserman learned that relationships with presidents could help them in their efforts to shape policies beneficial to their companies. Jack Welch and Oprah Winfrey found that their own celebrity made them sought after by presidents. Jamie Dimon and J. P. Morgan may have been criticized for their important roles on Wall Street, but they also helped presidents rescue the economy in challenging times. Mark Zuckerberg and Tim Cook learned from watching others the importance of engaging in Washington, while Steve Jobs and Warren Buffett were able to remain outsiders, largely because they were less dependent on government support in building their companies. Finally, Elon Musk offers a cautionary tale of someone who grew enormously wealthy in part because of federal incentives and contracts, but found that alienating the powers that be could have deleterious effects on his business, and his reputation.


For current and future CEOs, this book can be a guide for how to engage with an increasingly powerful and involved federal government, especially in our era in which both Democrats and Republicans target corporations in their rhetoric and often in their policy prescriptions. For the rest of us, this is a cautionary tale of what happens when the federal government gets too big and too enmeshed in the activities of the producers and innovators in our economy: our costs go up while our freedom diminishes.
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THE BLANK SLATE




Presidents: Ulysses S. Grant, Rutherford B. Hayes, Chester A. Arthur, Benjamin Harrison, Grover Cleveland, William McKinley


CEOs: John D. Rockefeller, JP Morgan





Today, corporations are subject to a panoply of government impositions in the form of regulations and legislation that shape the way they do business. Everything from taxes to hiring to environmental impact to hours worked is regulated to some degree and plays into business strategies and consideration. This is far different than the situation as it stood in the late nineteenth century, when men like J. P. Morgan and John D. Rockefeller built their monopolies with little federal governmental input. In the era of laissez faire, they had a blank slate on which to carve out their empires. Throughout their ascents, they operated independently and unfettered until, late in life, they found that both popular opinion and a newly empowered president curtailed their freedom of action.


Morgan: From a Domineering Father to Dominating the Economy


Morgan was born first, to a comfortable family in 1837. His father was a driven and successful banker who made sure young J. P. was well educated. Morgan attended school in both New England and in Europe before entering the financial world. The younger Morgan was initially hindered by the impositions of his domineering father, but eventually Morgan emerged as his own person and went on to become an unquestioned titan of American finance.


In his youth, Morgan was sickly and moved around a lot. He went to nine schools in a 13-year period. Morgan was an excellent math student, prompting one of his professors at Germany’s University of Göttingen to envision him as a future professor. Instead, he entered the banking world of his father, starting at a New York firm that invested in railroads. Then he worked at his father’s company for 10 years before creating his own company in 1871, Drexel, Morgan & Co. Throughout, Morgan continued to analyze the railroads, which were chaotic at the time. Presidential candidate Abraham Lincoln saw this firsthand in 1860, when he visited New York to give his famous Cooper Union address. The four-day trip required four train transfers and two ferries. The system did not make sense. Only two entities had the capacity to bring about the needed changes: Wall Street and the federal government. Thanks to Morgan, Wall Street stepped into the breach first, furthering his lifelong quest to bring order to the railroads, to Wall Street, and to the American economic system.1


With his skill in investing, and the promise of the emerging American economic colossus, Morgan would get his chance to rein in the chaos. Morgan was blessed with immense powers of concentration. This meant he could focus on a problem very deeply, but it also led him to shut out others and exhaust himself. In his efforts to tame the economy, he was often an army of one.2


Morgan’s first interactions with presidents were relatively innocuous. As a Republican and an admirer of Ulysses S. Grant, Morgan and some other financiers raised money to bankroll a house befitting the former president on East 66th Street. Grant would live there for most of his post-presidential life.3


Ten years later, Drexel Morgan moved into an impressive New York building of its own, a six-story structure at 23 Wall Street. It was a grand building, nicknamed “the Corner,” and was the place from which Morgan exerted his influence. One of his most important deals was with Thomas Edison, inventor of the light bulb. It was a mutually beneficial relationship. Drexel Morgan provided the financing and Edison provided the six hundred light bulbs needed to illuminate the Corner, which became one of the first buildings in the world that provided its lighting exclusively via electricity. In 1892, Drexel Morgan orchestrated the deal that created General Electric out of the smaller companies of Edison and his main competitor. GE would go on to become one of America’s largest and most powerful companies for over a century. The Edison dealings were part of the many ways in which Drexel Morgan used its resources to shape the growing and developing American industrial economy.4


John D. Rockefeller and the Powering of America


John D. Rockefeller had a much less comfortable childhood. He was born in Richford, New York, in 1839, the son of a bigamist and con man. Without a dependable father to rely on, the industrious Rockefeller set out at sixteen to find employment to support himself and his family, embarking on one of the most legendary job searches in American history. Rockefeller scoured Cleveland, where the family had settled, looking for a suitable employer, receiving a trial run as a bookkeeper for a small merchant trading operation called Hewitt and Tuttle.


Rockefeller quickly proved himself hardworking and eagle-eyed—traits that made what was supposed to be a temporary job permanent. The ambitious Rockefeller then began an impressive rise in the organization, eventually gaining the confidence to go out on his own. He created a new partnership, Clark and Rockefeller. Rockefeller skipped service in the Civil War by recruiting paid substitutes, even though he was a Republican and an Abe Lincoln man, to whom he granted his first presidential vote. He then got involved in the early stages of the chaotic oil business, on the refining side of things. In 1870, he formed Standard Oil, which soon became one of the most famous and powerful corporations in history.


Oil changed America in almost every conceivable way, beginning in the nineteeth century and continuing into the 20th and 21st centuries. It first illuminated homes and businesses where it replaced whale oil, and then served as the foundation to power America and the world. It enabled the development of vast industries, safer study in the evenings, temperature-controlled environments, and every modern form of transportation. Yet the very development of an oil industry was an uncertain endeavor, as costly questions of discovery, refinement, distribution, and application have befuddled and bankrupted many a talented entrepreneur for more than a century.


As challenging as the oil industry was in its early years, Rockefeller benefited from starting his business at a time when there were few federal restrictions on monopolistic or rapacious business practices. Government was involved in granting contracts, and thus most efforts at political influence had more to do with seeking government largesse than staving off government restrictions. It was in this environment that Rockefeller built his monopoly, using a variety of sharp-elbowed and unsavory tactics to out-compete and force out rivals in an effort to eliminate what he referred to as “ruinous competition.” These tactics included colluding with rail companies on special rebates unavailable to others; undercutting competitors and then buying them out; and using spies and agents to help advance his cause.5


Although Rockefeller’s tactics were clearly unethical, there are a number of points in his defense. First, even his greatest detractor, the muckraking journalist Ida Tarbell, acknowledged that his efforts were not illegal at the time. Second, the oil industry was turbulent, with massive booms and busts. Given the anarchic state of the industry at the time, it might not have survived without his consolidating and standardizing efforts. His competitors suffered, but consumers benefited in the form of cheap and reliable kerosene, which he made standard, hence the name Standard Oil. The industry certainly would not have evolved the way it did without him, which brings us to the third defense: his innovative creation of a system of refineries and distribution that enabled the powering and illumination of America.


To tame the tumultuous ups and downs of the different stages of petroleum production, Rockefeller wanted total control of the oil industry. He sought a world in which “the Standard Oil Company will one day refine all the oil and make all the barrels.” He did not quite get there, but he came close. By 1879, Standard Oil held 90% of U.S. refining capacity.6 This reality set him on a course to collide with the American president.




Rockefeller: Attracting Presidential Attention


Rockefeller built his monopoly in the 1870s, during the presidency of the former Civil War general Ulysses S. Grant. In 1872, Rockefeller initiated the creation of the South Improvement Company, an intentionally vaguely named enterprise that sought to provide railroad price rebates to SIC members for shipping, while at the same time giving SIC members payments for oil shipped by companies not involved in the scheme. The scheme bordered on racketeering and never actually came to fruition. The very real threat of it, though, allowed Rockefeller to buy out understandably frightened competitors, which was likely its purpose to begin with. The Grant administration took notice. Grant issued a public statement on March 30, 1872, saying, “I have noticed the progress of monopolies, and have long been convinced that the National Government would have to interfere and protect the people against them.”7


Grant had his own troubles, of course, most famously the railroad-pricing scandal called Credit Mobilier. Even though Credit Mobilier also involved questionable railroad pricing, it did not directly involve Rockefeller. Orville Babcock, Grant’s private secretary, was indicted in the affair, which both damaged Grant’s reputation and limited his ability to address the problem. The scandal did not lead to regulation of the monopolies, but it did help initiate civil service reforms that diminished the sway of the spoils system that governed federal appointments at the time. In addition, Grant was the most prominent of many voices that denounced the emergence of monopolies; over time, those voices would have significant implications for Rockefeller and Standard Oil.8


Grant’s replacement, Rutherford B. Hayes, had little to do with Rockefeller. In 1877, when Standard Oil was battling the Pennsylvania Railroad over rates and rebates, Pennsylvania executive Tom Scott tried to cut costs on the backs of his workers. The resulting firings and wage cuts led to labor strife, which escalated into a violent and destructive multi-state strike. Multiple governors called in their militias, and President Hayes contributed federal troops. The unrest spread to Cleveland and there was some thought that Rockefeller could be targeted, but he managed to escape unharmed. Overall, it is notable that in the decade from 1870 to 1880, when Rockefeller did the most to establish his monopoly, Grant and Hayes, the two presidents of that period, were essentially tangential to Rockefeller’s considerations.9


Even though Hayes as president did not engage directly with Rockefeller, he did not think much of the man. In 1890, when former president Hayes sought to organize a conference on the plight of the nation’s African-Americans, Cleveland Leader editor John C. Covert recommended that Hayes invite Rockefeller. Hayes recognized that Rockefeller would be helpful to the effort, but hated the man so much that he could not bear to issue the invite himself. He asked conference collaborator Albert K. Smiley to issue it for him instead. Rockefeller did not attend, raising the question of whether a direct (ex-)presidential invite would have made a difference.10


Like Hayes, James A. Garfield was from Ohio, but he was initially unfamiliar with Rockefeller. In fact, Garfield had never met him when he was running for president in 1880, even though they were both prominent Ohio Republicans. Garfield did not even know how to spell the tycoon’s name. During the presidential campaign, Garfield wondered if Rockefeller could be a source for that which politicians need most, campaign contributions. He sought the advice of Cleveland businessman Amos Townsend, asking him “if Mr. Rockafeller [sic] would be willing to assist?” adding, “Do you know his state of feeling toward me? Is it such that I might safely invite him for consultation and talk freely with him about Indiana and ask his cooperation?”11


Townsend knew that Rockefeller had resources and that he did indeed contribute generously to Republican campaigns. But Townsend also recognized that interacting with Rockefeller brought with it political liabilities. Townsend replied to Garfield, “It would not be safe for him to visit you as it would be reported and cut like a knife in Pennsylvania. He is, however, all right and will do what he can.” Rockefeller indeed did what he could and contributed to Garfield’s campaign, albeit without a direct request from the candidate. Interestingly, Townsend also told Garfield “to keep your hand off paper,” showing just how radioactive Rockefeller was beginning to be by that point.12


Townsend was right to be wary. In March of 1881, progressive journalist Henry Demarest Lloyd published the first major exposé of the bare-knuckle tactics Rockefeller and Standard Oil used to build their monopoly. Demarest’s “John D. Rockefeller’s Standard Oil Trust” appeared in The Atlantic, a publication that was helping to create a national consciousness at a time when emerging technologies such as the telegraph, the railroads, and the power printing press were connecting the American public. Ironically, these technologies, as well as the illumination for nighttime reading of Demarest and his fellow writers’ works, were powered by Rockefeller’s distribution of kerosene. In later years, Rockefeller-provided gasoline would fuel the automobile, which did even more to forge a national sensibility. Rockefeller unwittingly enabled the unifying technologies that made him a national villain and target of politicians on both sides of the aisle.


Demarest’s writings, especially his 1894 book, Wealth Against Commonwealth, would help make Rockefeller and Standard Oil villains beyond just the circle of competitors and others directly affected by his tactics. Even before Demarest, the savvy Townsend recognized Rockefeller’s unpopularity before it would be discovered more broadly, when politicians like Garfield would not even have to ask if interacting with Rockefeller could bring with it vulnerabilities as well as benefits. Townsend’s warning to Garfield shows an early instance of the promise and peril of presidential-CEO interactions, dating back almost 150 years.


Rockefeller’s lack of personal engagement regarding his critics hindered him in understanding the depth of animosity toward him and prevented him from cultivating defenders. The decision to be so distant from the political process would jeopardize the very empire he was so focused on preserving. This failure contrasted strongly with J. P. Morgan, who would recognize the value of highlighting the strengths of business and the importance of personal involvement in shaping America’s political destiny.


Morgan: Coming to the Aid of Presidents


While Rockefeller was at arm’s length from presidents, J. P. Morgan was actively admired by them. In 1892, President Benjamin Harrison wrote a letter to businessman and Republican operative Cornelius Bliss, recommending Morgan for a slot on the Silver Conference regarding currency valuations. According to the letter, Harrison knew “Mr. Morgan’s very high standing and that no one could better represent the financial world in New York.” Harrison did something else as president that would have major implications for Morgan’s business interests and for his relationship with future presidents. On July 2, 1890, Harrison signed the Sherman Antitrust Act into law, giving the federal government a powerful tool for controlling monopolistic behavior by businesses, if it chose to do so.13


Morgan was also different from Rockefeller in the ways in which he aided a number of American presidents. Grover Cleveland replaced Harrison in 1892, after having lost to him in 1888. Cleveland was a Democrat, but the kind of Democrat Morgan could appreciate. Morgan even voted for Cleveland in 1884, the only time he ever voted for a Democrat for president. Cleveland supported the gold standard, important to Morgan, and was friendly with Morgan’s firm. Morgan’s positive feeling for Cleveland—and for the U.S. economy as a whole— would come in handy in 1895 with the U.S. still reeling from the recession induced by the Panic of 1893. U.S. gold reserves had sunk to a dangerously low level—$9 million, with $10 million in obligations coming due. Morgan saw that the U.S. was in trouble. On February 7, 1895, he headed to Washington to confer with Cleveland.14


Cleveland was wary of the political fallout of meeting with Morgan. He initially refused to see the banker, sending intermediaries to tell him not to come. Morgan was undeterred, telling them, “I have come down to see the president. And I am going to stay here until I see him.” Morgan stayed at a hotel near the White House and waited. The next morning, a messenger came to tell him that Cleveland would indeed meet with him at the White House. Facing a devastating financial collapse, Cleveland asked, “What suggestion have you to make, Mr. Morgan?”15


Morgan’s solution was daring, creative, successful—and, ultimately, profitable. He proposed a syndicate of his creation that would provide the gold and receive government bonds in return. It did not have to go through Congress—and the political process—as it could be done via the president’s emergency powers, something confirmed by Attorney General Richard Olney. The scheme worked, and the liquidity crisis was averted. Alas, though, the coordination with Wall Street hurt Cleveland politically and increased public skepticism of bankers. In the wake of the deal, the fiery populist and critic of the gold standard William Jennings Bryan took over the Democratic Party. Over the next thirteen years, Bryan won the presidential nomination three times, while losing the presidency all three times. As for Cleveland, his conservative approach to governing, including his willingness to work with Morgan, not only got him disavowed by the Democrats at the time, but also by generations of Democrats who followed, despite having a relatively successful presidency.16


With Cleveland out of the picture and the threat of Bryan looming, Morgan and his moneyed friends looked to Ohio Governor William McKinley for deliverance. Morgan donated $250,000 to McKinley’s 1896 campaign, about $8.4 million in today’s dollars. (The budget for the Democrats’ entire campaign that year was $400,000.) Morgan’s investment was money well spent. Morgan lobbied for, and got, a plank in the Republican platform endorsing the gold standard, and McKinley signed a law in 1900 codifying that standard. Unsurprisingly, Morgan was deeply grieved by the assassination of McKinley in 1900, telling a reporter, “The news is very sad. There is nothing I can say at this time.”17


In helping a number of U.S. presidents, both with financial contributions and assistance to the U.S. economy, Morgan helped create his own more cooperative model of engagement. His assistance to presidents on both sides of the aisle showed that CEOs do not necessarily have to have partisan alignments to be effective. This model also showed why presidents would often have their own reasons for cultivating CEOs, as a good relationship with CEOs could potentially help presidents in a variety of ways.


Rockefeller as Political Villain


Rockefeller, meanwhile, learned nothing from Morgan’s efforts at a moment of national peril. Like something out of Hollywood, he continued down the path of political villain. By the 1880s, politicians of both parties would recognize that associating with the unpopular Rockefeller was dangerous. In 1884, Cleveland, who had represented Standard Oil in private practice, was elected president. That same year, the Ohio legislature elected to the Senate Henry Payne, father of Standard Oil treasurer Oliver Payne. This was in the period in which state legislatures, not the people, sent senators to Washington. Oliver was specifically tasked with a mission of securing positions for friends of Standard Oil in Washington, in line with Rockefeller’s shortsighted theory that “I care not who is President, provided I have the ‘pull’ with his Secretary of the Treasury.”18


Still, Oliver’s selection of his own father for the Senate seemed too much. Coupled with this were serious allegations of election irregularities in the form of direct payments from Standard Oil to Ohio legislators. The Republicans in Ohio investigated the charges and sent their findings to the U.S. Senate, which debated expelling Senator Payne. Grover Cleveland’s intimate William C. Whitney, whom Oliver also helped get appointed as Cleveland’s Secretary of the Navy, worked within the Cleveland administration to make sure that Cleveland did not back Payne’s expulsion. The maneuvering worked, but at a large reputational cost for Rockefeller and Standard Oil. As Rockefeller biographer Silas Hubbard wrote in 1904, “The Payne scandal served more perhaps than any other event of twenty years to concentrate public attention on the Standard Oil and Rockefeller. It raised a storm which has never subsided.”19


In the 1888 presidential campaign, both Cleveland and Republican Benjamin Harrison were going after “the trusts” in campaign rhetoric. Rockefeller aide John Archbold, who would take over running Standard Oil when Rockefeller retired in 1896, told his boss not to worry about the denunciations. Archbold wrote to his boss, “We do not think that much will come of the talk at Washington regarding Trusts. … The demagogues are simply trying to outtalk each other for political effect.”20


Archbold was wrong. Harrison, who unseated Cleveland in that 1888 election, had spoken out against the trusts while a senator and had argued for a railroad commission that would limit Standard Oil’s ability to coerce rebates for itself. As president, Harrison signed the Sherman Antitrust Act on July 2, 1890, making trusts—the organizing principle under which Standard Oil could evade regulation—illegal. The passage of the act showed the political unpopularity of Rockefeller and his fellow monopolists, but its initial policy impact was limited. Standard Oil, even if no longer constituted as a trust as of 1892, would continue to operate for more than two decades before its eventual government-mandated breakup. The passage of the Sherman Antitrust Act and the dissolution of the trust did not end Standard Oil’s monopoly; indeed, it managed only to strike a glancing blow.21


Even though Standard Oil retained its power after passage of the Sherman Act, it had further secured its villain status and became a regular target of political denunciations. Rockefeller himself, sensing the darkening public mood, began to sleep with a revolver by his bedside. He was by this time fabulously wealthy, earning an estimated $3 million annually in Standard Oil dividends alone, approximately $100 million in today’s dollars. But the wealth came coupled with unpopularity, which made it more challenging to find politicians willing to be supportive of him or his company.22


Rockefeller’s unpopularity made the opportunity presented by a friendly politician so welcome and unexpected. Yet it was the very surprise nature of the opportunity that made the sudden loss of that president—and the equally sudden entry into the White House of a bitter enemy—so painful. In 1896, Rockefeller and Standard Oil actively backed the presidential candidacy of Ohio governor William McKinley, contributing $250,000—just as Morgan had—to McKinley’s campaign, with $2,500 of it coming from Rockefeller himself. Rockefeller, himself generally skeptical of politicians, was more expressive about his support of McKinley, saying, “I can see nothing else for us to do, to serve the country and our honor.” McKinley’s victory was a huge win for Rockefeller, who was in the process of phasing out his official duties as head of Standard Oil.23


McKinley’s top political adviser was Republican National Committee chair Mark Hanna, famous for his saying, “There are two things that are important in politics. The first is money, and I can’t remember what the second one is.” Hanna was a high school classmate of Rockefeller’s, and popular sentiment held that the Sherman Act would have little potency in a McKinley administration. McKinley was certainly better for Standard Oil, and for business in general, than McKinley’s 1896—and 1900—opponent, anti-corporate populist William Jennings Bryan. But even McKinley, with the donations and the closeness to Rockefeller’s schoolmate, saw which way the political winds were blowing. In 1898, he signed into law the creation of an Industrial Commission, something that President Cleveland had previously vetoed. Rockefeller, technically no longer running the company, was nevertheless induced to testify before the commission. Little came of it. But President McKinley did do something else that was far worse for Rockefeller, although he could not have known it at the time. In making his selection for his vice president, McKinley unwittingly brought an end to the laissez faire era and helped usher in the progressive era, which would have enormous ramifications for American business.24
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THE RISE OF THE PROGRESSIVES




Presidents: Theodore Roosevelt, William Howard Taft, Woodrow Wilson


CEOs: Rockefeller, Morgan, Henry Ford





In the early 1900s, American businesses started to recognize the way things were shifting. The era of laissez fair was over, and the federal government was taking a far more careful look at companies, especially when they formed dominating monopolies. While the federal government was not nearly as large or as powerful as it is now, it was big enough—and had sufficient civil authority—that it forced farsighted companies to take notice. Some companies even started to realize that working with government to shape regulations was a more effective strategy than fruitless opposition to seeing them enacted in the first place. The first seeds of the current entanglement, and what came to be known as regulatory capture, emerged in this era. According to Gregory Kolko, “The Progressive Era regulations in fact came to be due to the efforts of businesses rather than workers. The force that drove business to work with the government was the need for stability, predictability, and security.”1


The major CEOs of this era were still corporate founders, including a “retired” but still active Rockefeller, Morgan, and a powerful upstart who reshaped the transportation system named Henry Ford. They took different approaches to their relationships with presidents, but by the dawn of the progressive era, they all recognized that presidents had become too important and too potent to ignore. This realization was most powerfully brought about by the first president of the Progressive Era, an “accidental” president named Teddy Roosevelt.


A New Sheriff in Town


Theodore “Teddy” Roosevelt had a meteoric rise to the White House. Born to a wealthy New York family in 1858, he wrote his first book—a naval history of the War of 1812—before finishing his studies at Harvard. He joined the New York State Assembly in 1882, but came to prominence as police commissioner of New York in 1895. Six years later, he would be president.


In those six years Roosevelt held a succession of jobs of increasing importance and responsibility. Roosevelt left the commissioner’s post to become assistant secretary of the Navy, where he was intimately involved in preparations for the Spanish-American War of 1898. He then left his post to gain great fame as the head of the Rough Riders, celebrated for their charge up San Juan Hill in Cuba. With his newfound popularity, Roosevelt ran for and won the governorship of New York.


In 1900, William McKinley put the popular and reform-minded Roosevelt on the presidential ticket, replacing first-term vice president, Garret Hobart, who had died in 1899. This came at the urging and maneuvering of Standard Oil’s Henry Rogers, with the help of Pennsylvania senator Matthew Quay and New York political boss Thomas Platt—and against the wishes of Republican kingmaker Mark Hanna. Rogers later said, “We forced Roosevelt’s nomination as Vice-President. He was very troublesome as Governor of New York and we wanted him out of the way …” It was a miscalculation. Roosevelt, who often employed the rhetoric of a progressive reformer, knew that Standard Oil and other industrialists had maneuvered to get him out of the state house and into the seemingly ineffectual position of vice president. He hated Rockefeller and Standard Oil, and he did not much like J. P. Morgan, either.2




Rockefeller: In Roosevelt’s Sights


It did not take long before it became clear that Standard Oil and Roosevelt’s other enemies had miscalculated in getting the Rough Rider on the presidential ticket. Roosevelt served only nine months as vice president before becoming president on September 14, 1901, when McKinley was assassinated by Polish-American anarchist Leon Czolgosz. For the 42-year-old Roosevelt, it was a stunning ascension: six jobs in six years, culminating in the presidency.


As a New York politician with a reformist sensibility, Roosevelt was certainly aware of Rockefeller and Standard Oil. Rockefeller even donated $1,000 to Roosevelt’s failed mayoral campaign of 1886, viewing Roosevelt as less dangerous than the radical economic journalist—and best-selling author—Henry George. Standard Oil executives such as Henry Flagler also backed Roosevelt’s 1898 run for governor, although they were disappointed when Governor Roosevelt turned on them, backing both a corporate franchise tax and regulation of factories. A disappointed Flagler said of Roosevelt’s pivot, “I have no command of the English language that enables me to express my feelings regarding Mr. Roosevelt.”3


The initial response within Standard Oil to McKinley’s assassination and Roosevelt’s ascension was panic. Standard Oil executives worried about what a President Roosevelt might do, and there was also concern that Czosglosz’s action may have foreshadowed a wider radical response. Rockefeller doubled the bodyguards around his estate and stayed indoors in case he might have been targeted by assassins as well.4


Initially, it was an overreaction. Roosevelt was not as radical at the time, and Czosglosz was not part of a larger anarchist conspiracy. But Roosevelt definitely made things harder for Standard Oil than McKinley or his predecessors had. Roosevelt used his “bully pulpit” to attack industrial “evils,” and pushed the creation of a Bureau of Corporations to look into monopolistic corporate practices. As part of that effort, Roosevelt was willing to use Rockefeller as a punching bag, and even to be misleading in the process. While the Bureau of Corporations bill was being considered in Congress, Roosevelt railed against improper lobbying against the bill, citing telegrams sent to six senators opposing Roosevelt’s legislation. Roosevelt claimed, inaccurately, that Rockefeller had sent them. The telegrams had indeed been sent, but by John Jr., who was still at the company, and not the retired—and reviled—senior Rockefeller. No matter. Roosevelt called the telegrams “the most brazen attempt in the history of lobbying,” and his attack made front-page news. The publicity aided Roosevelt’s effort in favor of the bill, which passed in February of 1903. Roosevelt credited the telegram ploy with helping him get the bill passed, and the CEO-as-villain motif had demonstrated its potency.5


Even with the bill passed, and despite the occasional presidential potshots, Rockefeller and Standard Oil remained relatively unscathed in Roosevelt’s first term. The oil companies were not the Bureau’s first targets, and Standard Oil still felt that it could work with Roosevelt, even supporting him for a second term. But other winds were blowing during Roosevelt’s first term that would soon intensify the confrontation, with severe implications for Standard Oil, and for Rockefeller.


Miss Tar Barrel: The Media Shapes Perceptions—and Policy


In November of 1902, a fierce and dogged 6-foot-tall reporter named Ida Tarbell began running stories in McClure’s magazine about Standard Oil. The stories, which detailed Standard Oil’s—and Rockefeller’s—predatory tactics in building its powerful monopoly, were an immediate sensation. The stories went on for two years and helped build the circulation of McClure’s to 375,000—the equivalent of over 1.5 million today—making Rockefeller even more hated than he already was. Tarbell’s ultimate conclusion was devastating: “Mr. Rockefeller has systematically played with loaded dice, and it is doubtful if there has ever been a time since 1872 when he has run a race with a competitor and started fair.” Sentiment against Rockefeller was so negative that the reformist monthly The Arena wrote, “There are worse men than John D. Rockefeller. There is probably no one, however, who in the public mind so typifies the grave and startling menace to the social order.”6


Tarbell’s series stung. Standard Oil knew that it would, and tried to curtail it. Tarbell discussed the article with Standard Oil’s Henry Rogers at the company’s headquarters and he asked, politely but plaintively, “Is there any way we can stop this?” Tarbell’s steely response: “No, there is no way on earth in which you can prevent the publication of this story.”7


Rogers’s belated plea revealed a great oversight on Standard Oil’s part. While it was ruthless in building itself out both vertically and horizontally, it gave little attention to the press or to managing its reputation with the public. There had been earlier warnings about bad press as a potential problem. In 1888, Standard Oil executive Paul Babcock warned Rockefeller that “this anti-trust fever is a craze, which we should meet in a very dignified way and parry every question with answers which while perfectly truthful are evasive of bottom facts.” Rockefeller was uninterested in responding to the press then, and would remain so as long as he was at the company. But his lack of interest in the press showed that he misunderstood the degree to which an increasingly powerful—and national—press could shape perceptions, and with it, government policy.8


Even in the midst of the Tarbell onslaught, Rockefeller and Standard Oil remained slow to face the public relations challenge her series created. When a friend of Rockefeller offered to rebut some of Tarbell’s arguments, he stopped the friend in his tracks, saying, “Not a word! Not a word about that misguided woman.” Later, and somewhat more thoughtfully, Rockefeller noted that he had “thought once of having an answer made to the McClure articles, but you know it has always been the policy of the Standard to keep silent under attack and let our acts speak for themselves.” It was an unwise policy. Rockefeller dismissively—and ineffectually—referred to her as “Miss Tar Barrel” as her articles savaged the reputations of both him and the company he had built.9 Rockefeller’s nicknaming could not change the narrative, as things beyond just government policies were changing at the time. America was no longer so clubby, so dominated by elites; the popular media was becoming more aggressive, and a populist sensibility was on the rise.


While Rockefeller was practicing a self-destructive policy of unilateral disarmament, his enemies were taking advantage of the situation. Roosevelt included Tarbell’s articles in his vast reading—he read as many as three books a day, even as president—and even sent her a fan letter about the series. This was typical of Roosevelt. He had a long history of reading social criticism, learning from it, and befriending the authors.


Roosevelt’s reading and his relationships with authors could directly affect policy. He read Upton Sinclair’s harrowing novel The Jungle, which described unsafe and unsanitary conditions in the Chicago meatpacking plants. After reading the book, Roosevelt requested a report from Secretary of Agriculture James Wilson on plant conditions, which contributed to the passage of the Meat Inspection Act in 1906.10


Roosevelt saw Sinclair and Tarbell as part of a group who would become known as “muckrakers.” The term came from Roosevelt’s April 14, 1906, speech laying a cornerstone at the House of Representatives. In the speech, Roosevelt called out the value of a “man with a muck rake,” a reference to John Bunyan’s Pilgrim’s Progress. According to Roosevelt, the man with the rake “could look no way but downward.” These muckrakers could denigrate but could not get beyond their critiques to the place of real solutions. Roosevelt, however, could.11


Despite their limitations, Roosevelt found the muckrakers useful in that they highlighted societal problems that Roosevelt wanted to address. The Jungle did not alert Roosevelt to the problems of the nation’s meatpacking plants. He had discussed them previously, even before Sinclair’s book came out. What Sinclair did, however, was bring additional public support—not to mention outrage—that would help Roosevelt achieve his policy goals.12


Tarbell’s work was similar. Roosevelt was already skeptical of Rockefeller and his fellow industrialists. But in skewering Rockefeller, Tarbell created a political opportunity for Roosevelt. The Tarbell series was another example of Roosevelt’s smart use of his prodigious reading to develop new policy ideas and advance his political goals.


Unlike Rockefeller, Roosevelt understood public relations. He would later grumble about Henry Ford’s relentless public relations efforts to develop his popular image. Rockefeller had not yet had that insight, and Roosevelt took advantage of it.


Tarbell was a perfect vehicle for Roosevelt. As a native of Titusville, Pennsylvania, whose father’s business had been destroyed by Rockefeller, she took her local perspective on Rockefeller’s misdeeds and brought them to national attention. Roosevelt was determined to make use of that attention in a second term in the White House.13




First, though, Roosevelt had to win that second term. This was not foreordained. Mark Hanna, now a senator from Ohio and the head of the Republican National Committee, disliked Roosevelt and had tried to prevent him from joining McKinley’s ticket in 1900. When McKinley died, Hanna’s famous reaction was “Now we’ve got that damned cowboy as President!” Hanna hoped to run against Roosevelt in 1904, but got ill and died on February 15th, forestalling the possibility of a serious internal challenge.14


Hanna may have died, but his dictum about the importance of money in politics remained—and remains—alive. George Cortelyou, known as the first White House aide, took over the reins at the Republican National Committee and worked to raise funds for Roosevelt’s reelection with the assistance of RNC treasurer Cornelius Bliss. Standard Oil, as well as the other industrialists, had warily decided to back Roosevelt, recognizing that he was likely to win. Perhaps they felt that campaign contributions would lessen his ire against them. Rockefeller aide Archbold personally handed Bliss a check for $100,000—over $3 million in current dollars—but wanted to make sure Bliss was under no illusions about its source: “Now, Mr. Bliss, we want to make this contribution, but we do not want to do it without its being known and thoroughly approved of by the powers that be.” Bliss took the check, saying, “You need have no apprehension about it whatever.”15


Bliss’s assurances notwithstanding, Archbold was right to be apprehensive. Getting a check from Standard Oil was an issue for Roosevelt, and Democratic politician and newspaper publisher Joseph Pulitzer blasted the Republican campaign for it. In an open letter to Cortelyou in Pulitzer’s New York World, he called out Cortelyou over campaign contributions and specifically asked how much the Roosevelt campaign had received from the oil trust. Roosevelt, however, was a savvy pol, and he feared a political hit over getting money from Standard Oil. He sent a letter, telegram, and a memo to Cortelyou on October 26, 1904, demanding that he return the money: “I have just been informed that the Standard Oil people have contributed one hundred thousand dollars to our campaign. This may be entirely untrue. But if true I must ask you to direct that the money be returned to them forthwith.”16




The incident gave Roosevelt an opportunity both to blunt a political attack and to go on offense. He continued, “It is entirely legitimate to accept contributions, no matter how large they are, from individuals and corporations on the terms on which I happen to know that you have accepted them: that is, with the explicit understanding that they were given and received with no thought of any more obligation … than is implied by the statement that every man shall receive a square deal, no more and no less. …” He followed up by saying, “in view of my past relations with the Standard Oil Company” the donation might be seen “as putting us under an improper obligation.” Roosevelt’s memo was smart politics. He justified his many other political donations, called out Standard Oil, reminded voters that he had taken action against the company, and even got in a plug for his “Square Deal” campaign slogan. He also followed up with Cortelyou to make sure that the money was returned. Not bad for a $100,000 campaign hit. Roosevelt won the 1904 election with 56 percent of the vote.17


As for Rockefeller and Standard Oil, they had made a terrible investment. Not that it mattered, but it’s not clear whether the company even got its money back. Attorney General Philander Cox, who had heard Roosevelt dictate the letter to Cortelyou, told him, “Why, Mr. President, the money has been spent. They cannot pay it back—they haven’t got it.” Roosevelt, who did not care if the truth got in the way of his PR efforts, responded, “Well, the letter will look well on the record, anyhow.” The money was unimportant to Standard Oil, of course. Roosevelt had once again scored points off the company and found his political target for his second term. When Roosevelt won the election, Rockefeller sent him a telegram: “I congratulate you most heartily on the grand result of yesterday’s election.” This personal outreach would not help in the slightest.18


Targeting Morgan


Roosevelt did not much like Rockefeller, but he did not like Morgan, either. The dislike was not obvious upon Roosevelt’s ascension to the presidency, though. Roosevelt’s view on the economy was pragmatic. On the train ride to Washington after he had learned of McKinley’s death, Roosevelt told his friend H. H. Kohlsaat, “I don’t care a damn about stocks and bonds, but I don’t want to see them go down the first day I am President!” Roosevelt also had been wary of, but not hostile to, Morgan. When running for governor of New York in 1898, Roosevelt refused a contribution from Morgan and other top businessmen, telling state party head Thomas Platt that “I cannot accept contributions from the men you mention. Really, I must decline.” As the newly elected vice president, however, Roosevelt hosted a dinner for Morgan. When inviting his friend Elihu Root, Roosevelt said, “I hope you can come to my dinner to J. Pierpont Morgan. You see, it represents an effort on my part to become a conservative man in touch with the influential classes and I think I deserve encouragement.”19


As president, Roosevelt’s attitude towards Morgan was less mixed. In 1902, Roosevelt filed suit against the Northern Securities Company, a holding company through which Morgan controlled multiple railroads and pursued a northwestern railroad monopoly. Morgan was both angry about being blindsided by the suit and wanted to work things out without a lawsuit. He met with Roosevelt on February 23 and asked why Roosevelt did not warn him, to which the president replied, “This is just what we did not want to do.” Morgan had no more luck with his next request, which was to rectify matters without government action, “If we have done anything wrong, send your man to my man and they can fix it up.” Roosevelt was unmoved and his government continued with the suit. After Morgan left, Roosevelt observed that Morgan “could not help regarding me as a big rival operator, who either intended to ruin all his interests or else could be induced to come to an agreement to ruin none.” The Roosevelt administration won its case before the Supreme Court and disbanded Northern in 1904.20


Yet even as they clashed on one issue, Roosevelt and Morgan coordinated on another. They had shared interests in stopping the 1902 anthracite miners’ strike, which severely curtailed America’s coal supply. Morgan tried to intercede on Roosevelt’s behalf to resolve matters, with limited initial success. Eventually, thanks to pressure from both the president and the financier, the strike was settled via arbitration, which raised the miners’ wages but did not recognize any union. Roosevelt thanked Morgan for his efforts, writing, “If it had not been for your going in the matter, I do not see how the strike could have been settled at this time, and the consequences that might have followed … are … very dreadful to contemplate.” Morgan did not respond.21


In 1904, Morgan pressed Hanna to challenge Roosevelt for the Republican nomination. Hanna’s untimely death forestalled that possibility, and Morgan donated $150,000 to Roosevelt’s successful reelection effort. This did not suggest the end of the dislike between the two men, but it did indicate a level of accommodation.22


Rockefeller: Second-Term Roosevelt Unbound


With the 1904 election behind Roosevelt, and both Standard Oil and Rockefeller reeling from the Tarbell series, Roosevelt felt liberated to take more aggressive action in his second term. He also felt additional motivation as he was angry at Standard Oil for unsuccessfully opposing his Bureau of Corporations bill. As he later put it, Standard Oil had “antagonized me before my election, when I was getting through the Bureau of Corporations bill, and I then promptly threw down the gauntlet to it.”23


The newly formed Bureau began by looking more closely at Standard Oil. On May 4, 1906, Roosevelt spoke to Congress and touted a Bureau report on railroad rebates, saying, “The report shows that the Standard Oil Company has benefited enormously up almost to the present moment by secret rates, many of these secret rates being clearly unlawful.” Thanks in part to Roosevelt’s message and the underlying report, the Hepburn Rate Act, which let the Interstate Commerce Commission regulate railroad shipping rates—and consequently prevent improper rebates—moved forward in Congress. The Act was signed into law on June 29, 1906.24


Regulation was followed by prosecution. In June of 1906, Roosevelt had a special nighttime Cabinet meeting to plan the legal case against Standard Oil. Shortly afterwards Attorney General William Moody announced a preliminary investigation against Standard Oil. In September, Roosevelt wrote to Moody, “I do not see how we can refrain from taking action about them [Standard Oil]. I wish the formal report to be ready at the earliest day practicable in October, as I should like to dispose of the matter as soon as possible after my return to Washington.” Standard Oil knew it was in trouble, and Archbold told Rockefeller that “there is no doubt that the special Cabinet meeting, which the President called, and where the action was entirely dominated by him, led to the instituting of the proceedings.” Multiple lawsuits followed, with the Bureau of Corporations reports providing indispensable material for the plaintiffs. Government prosecutor Charles Morrison would tell Bureau head Herbert Knox Smith that “the help you have been to us is so great that it can hardly be estimated.” The most impactful lawsuit, seeking the dissolution of Standard Oil, was filed months later, on November 18, 1906.”25


The onslaught of lawsuits had an impact. In August of 1907, U.S. District Court Judge (and future commissioner of baseball) Kennesaw Mountain Landis fined Standard Oil of Indiana $29 million, almost $1 billion in today’s dollars. A recalcitrant Rockefeller remarked that Landis would be dead before Standard Oil paid a dime. Landis, it should be said, lived until 1944, outliving Rockefeller and certainly living long enough to see the 1911 breakup of Standard Oil.26


Standard Oil knew it was in the crosshairs, but there was little it could do about it. The three elements of the Roosevelt assault—regulation, prosecution, and political attacks—continued. Archbold, who had given the disastrous contribution to Roosevelt’s 1904 campaign, whined that, “Darkest Abyssinia never saw anything like the course of treatment we received at the hands of the administration following Mr. Roosevelt’s election in 1904.” Henry C. Frick expressed similar sentiments in a more cynical way: “We bought the son of a bitch, but he wouldn’t stay bought.”27


The Panic of 1907: Helping out for the Good of the Country


In 1907, national economic troubles held out the promise of a brief respite for Standard Oil. During October’s Panic of 1907, Rockefeller had pledged some of his own personal wealth to help prop up a reeling stock market. Rockefeller was involved in the financial markets as an investor. Morgan, however, was a financial market shaper, and would consequently have a bigger role than Rockefeller in dealing with the financial crisis.




As with Rockefeller, Morgan found Roosevelt’s second term challenging. Despite this, Morgan would come to the president’s—and the country’s—rescue again, just as he had under Grover Cleveland. In many ways, the Panic of 1907 resembled the 2007 collapse a century later: a cascading series of bank disasters threatened to create a series of bankruptcies and send the economy into a tailspin.


Morgan, with his vast knowledge of the markets and the economy, came up with a plan to stave off disaster. The plan entailed U.S. Steel, of which Morgan was a director, purchasing another steel company from Moore & Schley, one of the teetering banks. In 1895, he was able to present a similar plan to a wary Cleveland by stubbornly outwaiting Cleveland’s refusal to see him. By 1907, things had changed enormously. It was not presidential wariness but outright enmity that stood in the way of things. Furthermore, there was now a recognition by some that an increasingly powerful federal government could stand in the way of carrying out the plan.


U.S. Steel president Elbert Gary warned Morgan of this eventuality. In discussing the plan, Gary said to Morgan, “Before we go ahead with this, we must consult President Roosevelt.” Morgan was initially dismissive, asking, “But what has the president to do with it?” Gary explained that the deal created the very kind of monopoly Roosevelt had long been railing against. Morgan was convinced, and asked, “Can you go at once?” When Gary asked Roosevelt, the president gave a circumlocutory ok, saying, “I do not believe that anyone could justly criticize me for saying that I would not feel like objecting to the purchase under the circumstances.”28


While Morgan’s actions helped steady the economy, they proved a challenge for Roosevelt. Roosevelt had to allow Morgan’s intervention for the sake of the economy, but that consent weakened him politically. It also contributed to his decision not to run again in 1908, a decision he would later regret. Morgan came out on top, but it did not make him like Roosevelt any better. Later, when he learned that Roosevelt would be going on safari in Africa, Morgan joked that he hoped the lions would perform their duty.29


This model, of bailing out a president in a time of national need, was a recurring one that would be exhibited by other CEOs in the future, including Henry Ford with his armaments factory, and Jamie Dimon during the 2008 financial crisis. Patriotic CEOs can be helpful to presidents, and the nation, in times of great need, even if, as in the case of Morgan and Roosevelt—or Ford and Franklin Roosevelt—they dislike each other personally.


Rockefeller: Late in Life Civic Mindedness


Rockefeller’s efforts in the Panic of 1907 were of less import than Morgan’s but they did suggest a late-in-life change in approach. His civic-minded effort to prop up the plummeting stock market stocks coincided with Rockefeller finally recognizing that cultivating good press might be helpful. By this time, he had been retired for a decade and spent his time largely on philanthropy and his daily game of golf. Mark Twain joked about Rockefeller’s charitable giving in a Harper’s essay, and Rockefeller himself kibitzed with reporters, joking that he had been “made into a sort of frightful ogre, to slay which has become a favorite resource of men seeking public favor.” He even appeared to show remorse, or at least openness to regulation, saying that “capital and labor are both wild forces which require intelligent legislation to hold them in restriction.” In the wake of the crisis, and the revised PR approach, Rockefeller noted that reporters had “spoken very kindly and favorably, and all have shown great appreciation of what we have tried to do to save the ship.”30


The goodwill did not last. Rockefeller made the mistake of criticizing the Roosevelt administration to a reporter, saying (off the record, not that it mattered when it appeared in print), “The runaway policy of the past administration can have but one result. It means disaster to the country, financial depression, and chaos.” The comment angered Roosevelt, who was also annoyed that Rockefeller, whose daily golf game was widely publicized, cited poor health when he begged off coming to the White House for a conversation about Standard Oil. In Roosevelt’s telling, Rockefeller would not come because he felt insulted by what the Bureau of Corporations had revealed about Standard Oil’s practices. Roosevelt may have been right, but Rockefeller likely understood that Roosevelt would not be averse to using the publicity of a White House meeting with Rockefeller against the aging tycoon.31




Roosevelt held his fire for a while, but once 1908, his last year in office, began, he picked up the cudgel once again. Roosevelt gave a special message to Congress in which he described his antitrust crusade as a “campaign against privilege.” He railed against Standard Oil for opposing his reforms, and he specifically called out Rockefeller’s Standard Oil and E. H. Harriman’s Santa Fe Railroad, referring to them as “the most dangerous member of the criminal class—the criminals of great wealth.” He also continued to press forward with the lawsuits, telling Attorney General Charles Bonaparte, “If we have a criminal case against these men, I should be very reluctant to surrender it.”32


Roosevelt: Finding and Undermining a Successor


As 1908 progressed, Roosevelt’s thoughts shifted to identifying his successor. Roosevelt wanted his friend and Secretary of War William Howard Taft, but Taft was not the only candidate for the GOP nomination. Ohio senator Joseph Foraker was interested in the job, but Roosevelt did not want Foraker—seen as Wall Street’s candidate—in the White House. On January 22, 1907, at the annual Gridiron Dinner, Roosevelt went after Foraker directly. Seated, uncomfortably for both men, at the same table, Roosevelt heard Foraker make a reprehensible racist remark. Seeing an opportunity, Roosevelt asked to speak. He began by attacking the wealthy, and warning that without his reforms, the only alternative would be a takeover by “the mob, the mob, the mob.” Then he went after Foraker by name and repeated Foraker’s remark, disagreed with it, and threw down his program in disgust. The incident made a splash in the Washington Post, and Foraker was damaged, but not destroyed, in the process.33


Taft got the nomination, but the Foraker story was not yet over. In September of 1908, newspaper magnate William Randolph Hearst disclosed a letter exchange between Foraker and Archbold revealing direct payments from Standard Oil to Foraker, including a staggering $150,000—$5.4 million in today’s dollars—to help pay for the decoration of Foraker’s Washington, D.C. mansion. (It turns out that Garfield adviser Amos Townsend was correct to warn Garfield against putting anything regarding Rockefeller or Standard Oil on paper).34




Always one to seize a political opportunity. Roosevelt urged Taft to pounce. Roosevelt told Taft to “[make] a fight openly on the ground that you stood in the Republican party and before the people for the triumph over the forces which were typified by the purchase of a United States senator to do the will of the Standard Oil Company.” Taft, typically less aggressive than Roosevelt, passed, but won the election nonetheless. As for Foraker, the revelation ended his political career. Being Wall Street’s preferred candidate was one thing, but taking direct payments from Standard Oil was another.35


The incident revealed differences between Roosevelt and Taft that would have huge implications. Taft gained Standard Oil’s—and Rockefeller’s—support in 1908, but he did so legitimately, as Rockefeller saw him as more palatable than Bryant. Rockefeller even issued a statement backing Taft, saying, in part, “I will vote for Taft. If for no other reason I support Taft because on comparing him with [William Jennings] Bryan, his chief opponent, I find the balance of fitness and temperament entirely on his side. The election of Mr. Taft, will, I believe, make for law and order and stability in business. He is not a man, I judge, to venture with rash experiments or to impede the return of prosperity by advocating measures subversive of industrial progress.”36


The Roosevelt White House put out its own statement, claiming that the Taft endorsement was “a perfectly palpable and obvious trick on the part of the Standard Oil people to damage Taft.” The incident, and Taft’s non-disavowal of the endorsement, irked Roosevelt so much that he even considered breaking his pledge to step down and supplant Taft as his chosen successor.37


As the story shows, Taft lacked Roosevelt’s PR instincts. Roosevelt was miffed at Taft for allowing himself—and his enormous girth—to be photographed in golf attire, something Roosevelt thought was a huge mistake. As he advised Taft, “I never let friends advertise my tennis, and never let a photograph of me in tennis costume appear.”38


As president, Taft was personally more friendly to Rockefeller than Roosevelt was. In 1910, Taft and Rockefeller encountered each other at Augusta’s Hotel Bon Air. Both men were avid golfers and agreed to hit the links together, only to have a wary Mrs. Taft put a kibosh on it. At another encounter, Rockefeller asked Taft to say hello to his granddaughter, five-year-old Mathilde McCormick. Taft not only greeted her but lifted her high into the air, showing no bad blood between the two men.39


The vindictiveness was gone, but the prosecution remained. Taft got to preside over something Roosevelt had wanted but did not attain in his presidency: the demise of Standard Oil. Rockefeller brooded over the pending case and felt the whole effort against the company he built was “vindictive.” He may have been right. By 1911, Standard Oil was not even a monopoly anymore. Its market share, once 90 percent, was now 60 percent. Many of its more rapacious market practices had been called out and now prevented by law, and in retrospect, Standard Oil had inarguably provided enormous consumer and industrial benefits. According to antitrust analyst David Koppel, “Before Standard Oil revolutionized oil derivatives by lowering prices and improving quality, the high prices and limited supplies of whale oil and candles, prevented all but the wealthy from being able to work or entertain after dark.” Afterwards, Koppel wrote, “Thanks to Standard Oil, families could illuminate their homes for just one cent per hour.”40


Unfortunately for Standard Oil, Robert Bork’s theories on monopolies having utility if they benefit the consumers were decades in the future. At 4:00 p.m. on May 15, 1911, the Supreme Court spoke and ordered the dissolution of Rockefeller’s creation, a decade and a half after he stepped back from day-to-day operations. Rockefeller was right about two important things. First, the court had overturned the fine, meaning that even though Judge Landis would live another thirty years, he would never see the company pay that fine. Second, the breakup was not the end of oil profits, far from it.41


Rockefeller heard about the Court’s decision on the golf course, and initially remained nonchalant. He told his golfing partner, Father J. P. Lennon, that if he had any money, he should do just one thing with it: “Buy Standard Oil.” He even sent out a mock obituary to friends, saying, “Dearly beloved, we must obey the Supreme Court. Our splendid, happy family must scatter.” Standard Oil of New Jersey finally let Rockefeller retire. The company would break up into thirty-four parts, with investors getting a share of each one. Those parts would become incredibly successful energy companies that we know today: ExxonMobil, Chevron, British Petroleum, among many others. The company had broken up, but big oil was here to stay.42




The breakup made Rockefeller even wealthier than he already was. His focus now was on philanthropy, and it showed. The Rockefeller charitable endeavors, including Spelman College—Spelman was his wife’s maiden name—a host of medical schools, the Rockefeller Institute, the Rockefeller Foundation, and the University of Chicago, were truly astounding. But they had a twofold purpose beyond just the charitable instinct.


First, Rockefeller, encouraged by his wife, came to see the public relations value of his charitable giving, which was an important part of the improvement in his reputation from the depths of the immediate post-Tarbell period. But there was another benefit as well. The federal income tax was passed by Congress on July 2, 1909, under Taft, and ratified February 3, 1913, during the Wilson administration. The Rockefeller Foundation was not coincidentally founded in 1913 with a $183 million endowment, just at the very time when Rockefeller was facing the prospect of the income tax. Like Henry Ford would do during the Franklin Roosevelt administration, Rockefeller set up a powerful foundation to wield influence and protect his holdings, in direct response to federal government policies.43




Coda: Morgan’s End


Unsurprisingly, Morgan also had an easier time with Taft than he had with Roosevelt. Taft, while friendlier to Morgan than Roosevelt, was still wary of the financier. He did not pursue Morgan’s business interests, as Roosevelt had, but neither did he pursue direct interactions with the unpopular banker. When Taft won the presidency, Morgan telegraphed the new president his “heartfelt congratulations on to-day’s splendid results.” At the same time, Morgan’s London office telegraphed New York, “Hope now we can have peace quiet and good business.” They got their wish, for a time. Morgan died on March 31, 1913, shortly after the end of Taft’s presidency and just a few weeks into the administration of Woodrow Wilson.44
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Henry Ford: Automobiles and the Transport of America


No invention changed the landscape and economy of America more than the automobile. Cars gave individual Americans a mobility unimagined in previous generations, and enabled the movement and economic unification of a large nation dominated by regionalism and geographic divides. No one was more instrumental in the rise of the car than Henry Ford. It was Ford who took the internal combustion engine and made it available to the masses. Ford wasn’t content with just reshaping American culture and economic life. He also sought to influence America’s politics. In this last effort to transform the nation, Ford found that influencing American presidents was more challenging and more elusive than all the manufacturing processes he revolutionized in the production of the automobile.


Ford was born on July 30, 1863, on a farm in Dearborn, Michigan. He was a tinkerer from an early age, and was interested in building a steam car. As a teenager, he built a steam car that ran with a kerosene heater boiler, but realized that the market for such a vehicle was too small, so he kept tinkering, eventually working with an internal combustion engine.45


In 1896, Ford built one of the first gas-operated vehicles, calling it the Quadricycle. He managed to meet Thomas Edison at the annual Edison Convention in New York City, and told him about his prototype. Edison was encouraging, telling him, “You have the thing. Keep at it.”46


Ford would indeed keep at it, starting his first car company, the Detroit Automobile Company, in 1899, and then launching the Ford Motor Company in 1903. He eventually developed the legendary Model T in 1908, the first affordable car for the masses. Sales of the Model T exploded, from 18,000 in 1909 to almost 250,000 in 1913, to over 1 million in 1920. Ford was obsessed with scale and with cost-cutting, and he kept cutting the price as he found savings: the price dropped from $1,000 initially to $355 in 1920 (approximately $5,500 today).47


As part of his quest to reduce costs, Ford developed the assembly line, revolutionizing the means of production. Ford’s other major innovation was the five-dollars-a-day wage. Two insights led to this massive pay hike for the time. One was that Ford needed reliable workers. He kept shaving minutes off the time it took it to make a car but found that the human factor was slowing him down. Worker absences and departures made it hard to meet his deadlines, so Ford came up with the high wage that would both attract and retain workers. Ford did not make it easy to get that daily five dollars. You had to show up on time and work reliably for six months—generally be a model employee in order to keep getting it. Although workers were expected to maintain a fast, even punishing, pace and regularly work through lunch, five dollars a day was a huge incentive for workers at the time, enough to keep them in those grueling jobs.48


The second driver behind Ford’s pay hike was that he saw the power of the supply side to create an even bigger market for his cars. Ford had this question in mind back in the 1870s, when he realized there was little potential for a costly steam-powered car in the commercial marketplace. With the five-dollars a day wage, Ford was paying his workers enough to enable them to be his customers as well. Later, when Ford introduced the five-day work week at his factories in 1926, at least part of his thinking was that two days of leisure time would give workers more time to drive cars, and thus more of an incentive to buy them.49


These insights reveal Ford to be a kind of reformer, cognizant of the impact his business decisions had on his factories, his workforce, his customer base, and ultimately his business. His ideas would spread, thereby magnifying his impact on American life. In his autobiography, Henry Ford: My Life and Work, published in 1922, Ford made it clear that he thought industry should help mold society for the better. As Ford wrote, “The highest use of capital is not to make more money, but to make money do more service for the betterment of life. Unless we in our industries are helping to solve the social problem, we are not doing our principal work. We are not fully serving.”50


Although Ford was able to shape American society in far-reaching ways with his business decisions, he would find shaping government decisions to be much more difficult. In his memoirs, Ford also revealed a level of skepticism of reformers, of Washington, and of government in general. Regarding reformers he said, quite starkly, “I am not a reformer. I think there’s entirely too much attempt at reforming in the world, and that we pay too much attention to reformers.” According to Ford, a reformer was “the sort of man who would tear up a whole shirt because the collar button did not fit the buttonhole. It would never occur to him to enlarge the buttonhole.”51


Ford was even harsher on government, writing that “law never does anything constructive.” Ford felt that it was “a waste of time to look to our state capitals, or Washington to do that which law was not designed to do.” He also believed that in government, in contrast to business, actions would have an impact opposite their intent: “As long as we look to legislation to cure poverty, or to abolish special privilege, we are going to see poverty spread and special privilege grow.” Ultimately, Ford felt that “we may help the government; the government cannot help us.”52


Ford’s Dislike of Washington


No president earned a mention in Ford’s memoirs. Nevertheless, Ford knew at least seven of them, and clashed with most of the ones he knew. His skepticism of Washington affected his approach and shaped the results of those interactions. Taft was president when the Model T took off, and he was somewhat of a car enthusiast. He was the first president to attend an auto show, and it was during his presidency that Congress first appropriated funds for the purchase of two White House automobiles to transport the president. Neither was a Ford.53 But in 1914, as an ex-president, Taft was quite impressed with his visit to the Ford factory in Highland Park, saying, “It’s wonderful. Wonderful! I am amazed at the magnitude of the establishment. I can almost hear the wheels buzz, and the machinery hum now.”54


Things became somewhat more complicated under Taft’s successor Woodrow Wilson. In 1914, Wilson met Ford, requesting he come to the White House to discuss the worrisome state of the economy. Ford was bullish about the economy and counseled patience. The meeting would get Ford labelled as “A New Adviser to the President” in the papers.55 It was an early instance of a president using a business leader for a photo-op, something that would become a tried-and-true tactic of presidents. It would also be far from the last time that Ford would be summoned to the White House during troubling economic times.


Wilson may have wanted Ford’s advice as a business tycoon, but Wilson was also enamored with cars. That same year, Wilson attracted national coverage when he purchased a Model T for his summer home.56 The automobile would play an important role in Wilson’s life. Following the death of his first wife, Ellen, the bereaved Wilson spotted an attractive widow, Edith Bolling, around Washington. She was the first woman to get a driver’s license in Washington, D.C. They met, and had a whirlwind courtship, riding together in the back seat of a Secret Service-driven car. The two of them would draw the curtain so as to get some backseat privacy.57 Shortly afterwards, they married.


Although Ford and Wilson had shared interests in the economy, they eventually found themselves taking divergent positions on foreign policy. Ford was a pacifist, and adamantly opposed to war, and to U.S. involvement overseas in general. His pacifism came from a number of sources. As a businessman obsessed with efficiency and wary of government, he felt that war was bad for business and good for the state. In addition, his mother had a brother die in the Civil War, while another brother was injured.


Ford’s reading also contributed to this attitude, including the McGuffey Eclectic Readers, which he read in his youth. This widely read publication for schoolchildren had run an essay called “Things by Their Right Names.” According to the essay, the right name for soldier was “murderer.” As an adult, in 1915, Ford told the Detroit Free Press that, “I hate war, because war is murder, desolation and destruction, causeless, unjustifiable, cruel and heartless to those of the human race who do not want it, the countless millions, the workers. I hate it none the less for its waste, its uselessness, and the barriers it causes against progress.” Ford’s adamant anti-war views would put him at odds with multiple presidents. Those views would also lead to the first of many times he would be burned by getting involved in politics.58


Booted from the White House


In November of 1915, Ford and a press aide, Louis Lochner, traveled to Washington to see Wilson. The Great War—only later to be labelled World War I—had started in August of 1914, with Germany executing a two-pronged attack on France and Russia. Soon, Europe was embroiled in a war and many Americans wondered if they would be joining the conflict. In May of 1915, a German U-Boat sank the British cruiser the Lusitania, killing 1,195 passengers, including 123 Americans. Many Americans, including former president Theodore Roosevelt, were arguing for “prepared-ness,” an arms buildup to prepare America—and its citizenry—for war. Wilson had been uninterested, but the sinking of the Lusitania had captured his attention. Ford came to Washington to keep Wilson in the anti-war camp.59


Ford used his time on the train with Lochner to prepare for meeting the president. He thought the war was a bad idea from the beginning. In his memoirs, he would later write, “I have never been able to discover any honourable [sic] reasons for the beginning of the World War.” With Lochner, Ford tested out different talking points to persuade the president, including “men sitting around a table, not men dying in a trench, will finally settle differences.” Liking the sound of that one, he told Lochner, “Make a note of that. We’ll give it to the boys in the papers when we get to New York.”60


Wilson was initially welcoming to the visitors. When Ford told Wilson that he looked well, the president explained that he tried to leave work behind when he went home and that he also enjoyed a good joke regularly. Lochner, ever the PR man, jumped in: “Some of them Ford jokes, I hope?” he said. Ford, on cue, shared a joke told about himself: Henry Ford drives by a cemetery and notices a gravedigger preparing an enormous grave. Ford asked whether the grave was for a whole family, but the gravedigger responded that it was for one man, who asked in his will to be buried in a Ford. The reason? A Ford had gotten him out of every hole to date, and he was confident it would pull him out of this one. The joke earned a chuckle from the president.61


As this exchange suggests, Ford jokes were a known thing in America in the 1910s, showing what a phenomenon he had become in the short time since the Model T had taken America by storm. The jokes would appear on postcards. One from 1915 read: “A little spark, a little coil, a little gas, a little oil, a piece of tin, 2 inch of board, put ‘em together, and you have a Ford.”62 There was even a 1915 book called Funny Stories About the Ford, Vol. 1, a title that suggests that there would also be a Volume 2. One of the biggest spreaders of these jokes was Ford himself, so he was glad to have the opportunity to share one with the president. And the fact that the priggish Wilson laughed, and even shared a joke of his own in response, was a positive development.63


Unfortunately for Ford, the joke exchange was the high point of the meeting. After the jokes, Ford turned to business. He asked Wilson to appoint a neutral commission, to be financed by Ford, to try to resolve the war in Europe. Wilson was friendly to Ford but understandably noncommittal. Stymied by Wilson, Ford tried a different approach. He told Wilson that “Tomorrow at ten in New York, representatives of every big newspaper will come to my apartment for a story. I have today chartered a steamship. I offer it to you to send delegates to Europe. If you feel you can’t act, I will.” All presidents hate threats, especially threats of bad publicity, and Wilson did not take well to the news. According to historians Frank Ernest Hill and Allan Nevins, Wilson had both Ford and Lochner “escorted out of the White House.” Upon leaving the White House, a disappointed Ford told Lochner of Wilson, “He’s a small man.”64


Ford may have been an industrial genius, but that did not make him a political expert. The effort backfired. This steamship, officially the “Oskar II,” would be renamed “The Peace Ship,” and the publicity with which Ford threatened Wilson would end up harming Ford far more than Wilson.


Ford and Lochner headed to New York, as promised, and gave a press conference at the Biltmore Hotel on November 24, 1915, describing the mission. He would bring a group of peace advocates to Europe to try to settle matters among the warring powers. Ford had invited many illustrious guests, including former president Taft to join, but most, including Taft, wisely declined the invitation. Ford also made a serious gaffe when he told forty assembled reporters, “We’re going to try to get the boys out of the trenches before Christmas. I’ve chartered a ship, and some of us are going to Europe.” In the great tradition of New York newspaper headline writers, the New York Tribune seized on this with a headline reading, “GREAT WAR ENDS CHRISTMAS DAY: FORD TO STOP IT.” The fighting would go on for another three years, and the U.S. entered the war about seventeen months later, in April of 1917.65




Peace Ship Mockery for Ford


The Peace Ship would take off on December 4, 1915, at 2:00 p.m. Ford was a passenger, and he opened himself to more ridicule with a pre-departure message filled with cliches, and sounding reminiscent of the McGuffey essay he had read in his youth: “War is murder”; “The word ‘murderer’ should be embroidered in red letters across the breast of every soldier”; “I will devote my life to fight this spirit of militarism.” The effort did not cost him his life, but it did harm his reputation, and cost him a great deal of money in the process. Press mockery included calling Ford “God’s fool” and “a clown,” while the Oskar II was dubbed “a loon ship.” Ford’s wife Clara begged him to get off the ship.66


Other press outlets weighed in negatively as well. The Philadelphia Record wrote that “Henry Ford’s millions have gone to his head. The fact that a man can make a cheap automobile is not necessarily a qualification for becoming a world leader and showing all the belligerents how much pleasanter and cheaper peace is than war.” The Louisville Courier seized on his harassment of Wilson, writing that “it is worse than ineffable folly for pestiferous busybodies in this country like Henry Ford to nag the President to make an ass of himself.” The mockery even hit Ford in his own backyard. The Detroit Saturday Night called Ford’s effort “a humiliation to his city and his country.”67


Challenging the president’s position on foreign policy attracted the ire of other politicians, including a well-known former president whose own missteps had helped get Wilson elected in the first place. In 1912, Roosevelt chose to challenge incumbent President Taft, his hand-picked successor, for the Republican nomination. Failing to win the nomination, Roosevelt then launched a third-party bid under the Bull Moose, or Progressive Party banner, which split the Republican vote and landed Wilson in the White House. Roosevelt dismissed Ford’s effort as completely ineffectual, saying that “Mr. Ford’s visit abroad will not be mischievous only because it is ridiculous.” Demonstrating the bipartisan nature of the mockery, former Democratic presidential candidate Alton B. Parker—who lost to Roosevelt in 1904—derided Ford as “a clown strutting on the stage for a little time.”68


Ford’s peace endeavor, which went on for another fourteen months even after Ford’s return to U.S. soil, was a failure on many levels. It did not bring about peace or even accelerate a peace effort. It had gotten him kicked out of the White House by the sitting president. It earned him the derision of the media across the country. It had gotten him attacked by politicians from both parties. And it was financially costly, requiring Ford to put up $500,000 of his own money—$14.5 million in today’s dollars. To add insult to injury, Ford contracted the flu on the journey.69
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